
 
 
A meeting of the HINCHINGBROOKE COUNTRY PARK JOINT 
GROUP will be held in COUNTRYSIDE CENTRE, 
HINCHINGBROOKE COUNTRY PARK, BRAMPTON ROAD, 
HUNTINGDON, PE29 6DB on FRIDAY, 15 NOVEMBER 2024 at 
10:00 AM and you are requested to attend for the transaction of the 
following business:- 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
APOLOGIES 
 
  

1. MINUTES (Pages 3 - 6) 
 

To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 12th July 2024. 
 

Contact Officer: Democratic Services - (01480) 388008 
 

2. MEMBERS' INTERESTS  
 

To receive from Members declarations as to disclosable pecuniary, other 
registerable and non-registerable  interests in relation to any Agenda item. See 
Notes below. 

 
Contact Officer: Democratic Services - (01480) 388008 
 

3. SENIOR RANGER'S REPORT (Pages 7 - 14) 
 

To receive a report by the Senior Ranger on park activities for the period July to 
October 2024.  

 
Contact Officer: D Rook - (01480) 388645 
 

4. FINANCE REPORT (Pages 15 - 16) 
 

To receive the Finance Report for the Park.  
 

Contact Officer: D Adeoye – (01480) 388869 
 

5. DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
 

To note that the next meeting of the Hinchingbrooke Country Park Joint Group will 
be held on 25th April 2025 at 10:00am. 

 



Contact Officer: Democratic Services - (01480) 388008 
 

7 day of November 2024 
 
Michelle Sacks 

 
Chief Executive and Head of Paid 
Service 
 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and other Registerable and Non-
Registerable Interests. 
 
Further information on Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and other Registerable and 
Non-Registerable Interests is available in the Council’s Constitution 
 
Filming, Photography and Recording (including Live Streaming) at Council 
Meetings 
 
This meeting will be filmed for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the Council’s 
YouTube site. The whole of the meeting will be filmed, except where there are 
confidential or exempt items. If you make a representation to the meeting you will 
be deemed to have consented to being filmed. By entering the meeting you are 
also consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound 
recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes. If you have any queries 
regarding the streaming of Council meetings, please contact Democratic Services 
on 01480 388169.  
 
The District Council also permits filming, recording and the taking of photographs 
at its meetings that are open to the public. Arrangements for these activities 
should operate in accordance with guidelines agreed by the Council.  
 

Please contact Democratic Services, Tel No: (01480) 388169 / email: 
Democratic.Services@huntingdonshire.gov.uk  if you have a general query 
on any Agenda Item, wish to tender your apologies for absence from the 
meeting, or would like information on any decision taken by the 
Committee/Panel. 
Specific enquiries with regard to items on the Agenda should be directed towards 
the Contact Officer. 
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting as observers except 
during consideration of confidential or exempt items of business. 
 
Agenda and enclosures can be viewed on the District Council’s website. 
 

Emergency Procedure 
 

In the event of the fire alarm being sounded and on the instruction of the Meeting 
Administrator, all attendees are requested to vacate the building via the closest 

emergency exit. 

https://www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/media/rftphwbw/constitution.pdf
https://www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/media/rftphwbw/constitution.pdf
https://www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/media/1365/filming-photography-and-recording-at-council-meetings.pdf
http://applications.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/moderngov/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
http://applications.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/moderngov/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1


HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 
 MINUTES of the meeting of the HINCHINGBROOKE COUNTRY 

PARK JOINT GROUP held in Countryside Centre, Hinchingbrooke 
Country Park, Brampton Road, Huntingdon, PE29 6DB on Friday, 12 
July 2024. 

   
 PRESENT: Councillor  M L Beuttell – Chair. 
   
  Councillors  C Lowe and D J Shaw. 
   
 APOLOGIES: Apologies for absence from the meeting were 

submitted on behalf of Councillors Billington 
and S L Taylor. 

   
 
 
1. ELECTION OF CHAIR   

 
 RESOLVED  

 
that Councillor M L Beuttell be elected Chair of the Hinchingbrooke 
Country Park Joint Group for the remainder of the Municipal Year.  
 
Councillor M L Beuttell in the Chair. 
  

2. MINUTES   
 

 The Minutes of the meeting held on 19th April 2024 were approved as 
a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
  

3. MEMBERS' INTERESTS   
 

 No declarations were received.  
  

4. APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR   
 

 RESOLVED  
 
that Councillor C A Lowe be appointed Vice-Chair of the 
Hinchingbrooke Country Park Joint Group for the remainder of the 
Municipal Year. 
  

5. MEMBERSHIP OF THE GROUP   
 

 To note the membership of the Group for 2024/25 as follows:  
 
(a) Cambridgeshire County Council 

 
Councillor K Billington.  

 
(b) Huntingdonshire District Council  

 
Councillors Mrs M L Beuttell, C A Lowe, D Shaw and S L 

Taylor. 
  

Page 3 of 16

Agenda Item 1



6. SENIOR RANGER'S REPORT   
 

 The Group received and noted the contents of the Senior Ranger’s 
report (a copy of which is appended in the Minute Book) and a 
PowerPoint presentation on park activities for the period April to June 
2024. In doing so, comment was made as follows: 
 
Country Park Management 
 
The team had focused on people related tasks over the period so as 
not to disturb the wildlife.  
 
A path has been developed to allow for accessible pond dipping to 
take place, the access had been designed for both wheelchair users 
and also for those with young children. The area is used both by the 
Forest School and the site.  
 
Surveys of bee orchids have continued with an average number of 
the plants having been identified over the season. The team are 
compiling data to enable annual comparisons against previous years 
and seasonality. The Group heard that the meadows would be cut in 
the later part of August and that the seeds distributed by this process 
would be left for the following years growth.  
 
It was noted that the Ecology surveys were underway but that these 
were very new and that it would take time to establish trends but that 
they would assist in maximising biodiversity and opportunities at the 
Park and its satellite sites.  
 
It was observed that with the increased footfall over the summer 
months, there was an increase in litter. The Group heard that whilst 
enforcement action can be taken for flytipping, smaller acts of littering 
were harder to trace back to an individual.  The ranger advised that 
new bins were being developed which would minimise litter flying 
back out of the bin, and that positive reminders about littering would 
be publicised more strongly with the introduction of these bins.  
 
Following a question from Councillor Shaw, the Group were advised 
that the Park aimed to keep seasonal sales, such as ice cream, in 
house in order to maximise profits for the Park.  
 
Activities and Events 
 
A wild swimming group has been established in the lake and safety 
around this activity will be explained to park users. The Grafham 
Water team have continued to utilise the facilities at the park with 
canoeing and paddleboarding.  
 
A Wild About Huntingdonshire Event was scheduled to be held at the 
Park on 28th and 29th September 2024. It was hoped that this event 
would bring together local groups and suppliers along with the local 
community to showcase the very best of the district.  
 
Country Park Development 
 
Plans were underway to resurface the footpath throughout the Park 
but that this required careful study and consideration as even small 

Page 4 of 16



changes could have a huge impact on habitats throughout the Park.  
 
The Group heard that alternative lighting options for the proposed car 
park were being investigated so that visitor safety and the local bat 
population were both maintained.  
 
The Group were assured, following an enquiry from Councillor 
Beuttell, that the plans remained on budget and that opportunities to 
utilise volunteers or to develop alternatives were being considered to 
ensure that a robust budget could be adhered to as well as the best 
possible outcome for the Park being delivered.  
 
  

7. FINANCE REPORT   
 

 The Group received and noted the contents of the Finance report (a 
copy of which is appended in the Minute Book) for the period April to 
June 2024. In doing so, comment was made as follows: 
 
The Group heard that the forecasting for the café income had been 
pessimistic but that the forecast had now been increased. It was 
noted that there was a current underspend due to vacancies expected 
to be recruited to later in the year.  
  

8. DATE OF NEXT MEETING   
 

 It was observed that Judith Arnold, a long term member of the team at 
Hinchingbrooke Country Park, would be retiring over the summer. 
The Panel would like to place on record their great appreciation for 
her hard work and outstanding contribution to the Park over the years 
and wish her a long and happy retirement.  
 
The next meeting of the Group is due to be held on 15th November 
2024 at 10:00am. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Chair 
 
 

Page 5 of 16



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6 of 16



 
 

HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 

SENIOR RANGER'S REPORT  
A presentation from the Senior Ranger on park activities 

for the period July 2024 to Oct 2024 
 
Meeting:    Hinchingbrooke Liaison group  
 
Date:    15th November 2024  
 
Executive Portfolio: Executive Member   Simone Taylor 
 
Report by: Head Ranger 
 
Ward(s) affected:   All Wards 

 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
This report summarises the progress and issues over the period and provides a 
summary of the future months.  
 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Committee is asked to review and comment upon the report and progress made 
to date. 
 

Page 7 of 16

Agenda Item 3



 

Head rangers report 
 

1.1 STAFFING 

A new staffing structure within the Parks & Countryside Service has been 
implemented, enabling the recruitment of key team members to enhance the 
management of Hinchingbrooke Country Park. This includes the addition of a 
Ranger, Assistant Ranger, and Weekend Wardens, strengthening our capacity 
to maintain the park and deliver a high-quality visitor experience. 

Positives of the New Structure: 

• Increased Visitor Engagement: With more staff, we can enhance visitor 
interactions, provide assistance, and ensure a safe and welcoming 
environment, especially during weekends and peak times. 

• Improved Park Maintenance: A larger team allows for more consistent 
upkeep of trails, habitats, and park amenities, helping maintain ecological 
health and visitor enjoyment. 

This new structure is instrumental in supporting both the conservation goals and 
community engagement objectives at the park. 

 
1.2  VOLUNTEERS 
  
The last few months have been productive for volunteer engagement at 
Hinchingbrooke Country Park: 
 

• Work Party Numbers: A total of 38 volunteer work parties have been 
held, involving a diverse range of activities focused on habitat 
maintenance and park improvements. One significant project was a trial 
of green haying, which proved effective for promoting native plant growth 
and managing grassland diversity. 

• Special Educational Needs (SEN) Notes: We continue to 
accommodate volunteers with Special Educational Needs, ensuring 
supportive and inclusive participation in regular work activities. 

• Volunteer Recruitment: Volunteer numbers are currently full, and no 
new recruitment has taken place, reflecting a stable and committed team 
with no recent departures. 

• Corporate Work Parties: In August, a corporate work party from the 
NHS contributed valuable time and skills, mainly focusing on wildlife 
habitat enhancement. Key activities included the construction of bird and 
bat boxes, which support the park's biodiversity goals. Additionally, 
corporate work parties offer a modest income stream, directly supporting 
our conservation efforts. 

• Friends of Hinchingbrooke Country Park: No updates regarding the 
Friends group at present; however, they remain actively engaged and 
continue to support park initiatives. 

 
 

 

Page 8 of 16



1.3  HINCHINGBROOKE COUNTRY PARK MANAGEMENT 
 
Hinchingbrooke Country Park Management Overview 
The management approach at Hinchingbrooke Country Park aligns with 
Huntingdonshire District Council’s corporate and service plans, focusing on 
enhancing biodiversity, maintaining infrastructure, and ensuring a high-quality 
visitor experience. From July to October, specific seasonal tasks are completed 
to support both ecological health and public use, with a particular focus on 
preparing habitats for winter and managing visitor impacts during the busier 
summer months. 
 
Key Management Tasks and Strategic Goals 
 

1. Biodiversity and Habitat Management: 
o Late Summer Green-Haying and Meadow Maintenance: From 

July through early autumn, green-haying trials in select meadow 
areas have helped improve soil conditions and support diverse 
native wildflowers. This promotes a habitat favourable to 
pollinators and small mammals and aligns with corporate 
environmental goals. 

o Scrub and Tree Thinning: During this period, scrub control and 
targeted thinning of trees in compartments like the Eastern 
Woodland help maintain open glades, supporting a variety of bird 
and insect species. 

o Invasive Species Control: Efforts to manage invasive plants, 
including species that can dominate waterways and shorelines, 
are also prioritised in the summer months to prevent them from 
spreading further during the autumn. 
 

2. Visitor Experience and Safety: 
o Pathway and Amenity Upgrades: Between July and October, 

pathways receive extra maintenance due to increased summer 
footfall, including mowing of path edges and repairs to surface 
wear. Additional litter collections ensure paths remain clean and 
safe, supporting district goals for high-quality public amenities. 

o Seasonal Signage and Information Updates: Updated 
information boards and wayfinding signs guide visitors and 
provide information on seasonal wildlife sightings, safety 
reminders, and conservation updates, improving visitor experience 
and engagement. 
 

3. Collaborative Partnerships and External Funding: The park’s work is 
supported by strong partnerships with local volunteer groups, the Friends 
of Hinchingbrooke Country Park, and corporate partners. In late summer, 
these partnerships bring in corporate volunteer days that contribute to 
projects such as bird box installations and habitat enhancement, funded 
through both council resources and external grants. 
 

  

Page 9 of 16



Looking Forward: Planned Activities 
Upcoming initiatives outlined in the management plan for the autumn and winter 
months include: 

• Woodland and Meadow Preparation for Winter: Preparations involve 
targeted glade creation, brush clearance, and habitat pile installations, 
which provide shelter for wildlife over winter. 

• Improved Wetland and Watercourse Management: Dredging and 
water level adjustments are planned to improve aquatic habitats, helping 
maintain conditions that support diverse wetland species through the 
colder months. 
 

These activities are designed to foster a sustainable environment for both 
wildlife and visitors, with long-term outcomes expected to strengthen park 
ecosystems. 
 
Additional Tasks and Resource Considerations 
In addition to planned tasks, the team addressed some unanticipated needs, 
such as additional invasive plant removal and high-impact path repair due to 
heavy summer visitor traffic. Adjustments in staffing and volunteer coordination 
ensured that these immediate needs were met without compromising scheduled 
conservation work. 
 
 
1.4 COMMUNITY GROUPS 
 
There have been no new community groups introduced at Hinchingbrooke 
Country Park during this period, and participation levels among existing groups 
have remained steady. We continue to engage our current community partners 
through ongoing communication, collaborative conservation projects, and 
events tailored to their interests and contributions. 
 
The stable involvement of these groups, including local volunteer organizations 
and Friends of Hinchingbrooke Country Park, has been invaluable. Their work 
on-site supports essential conservation tasks, from habitat maintenance to 
species monitoring, and promotes a strong sense of community ownership and 
pride in the park.  
 
 
1.5 SATELLITE SITES 
 
Views Common Footpath  
There are no significant updates for Views Common Footpath. Routine 
maintenance, including path clearing and signage upkeep, ensures safe, 
accessible routes for park visitors. This maintenance supports council goals for 
public safety and accessibility, encouraging outdoor activity and enhancing 
visitor experience in line with corporate objectives for community well-being. 
 
Stukeley Meadows 
A significant update for Stukeley Meadows this year was the construction of a 
new wildlife pond in collaboration with the Groundworks Team and local 
volunteers. This pond aims to enhance local biodiversity by providing a habitat 
for amphibians, birds, and invertebrates, aligning with council goals for 

Page 10 of 16



environmental stewardship and conservation. The partnership with 
Groundworks and volunteer groups allowed for efficient resource use and 
community involvement, contributing to sustainable habitat creation. 
  

Page 11 of 16



Spring Common 
There are no new updates for Spring Common at this time. Regular monitoring 
and management ensure that this area remains a valuable habitat, supporting 
local wildlife while also providing an accessible, natural space for the public. 
The focus remains on preserving the existing habitat in line with council goals 
for maintaining green spaces that benefit both wildlife and community members. 
 
 
1.6        CAFÉ 
 
Income across the café counter: 
 

 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

Q 1   55,681 45,005 53,687 18,122 54,103 63,015 82,592  73,219 

Q 2  52,600 51,962 64,649 52,314 44,350   77,723 
 

92,307  93,172 

Q 3  33,364 38,896 29,348 23,188 32,584   50,612  
 

61,852  

Q 4  28,249 43,749 24,999 24,958 35,366 
 

  56,047  
 

48,476  

Total £169,896 £179,612 £172,683 £118,582 £166,403 £247,399 £285,227 £166,390.9 

 
For the 2024/25 financial year, café income at Hinchingbrooke Country Park 
has seen strong performance in the first two quarters. Quarter 1 brought in 
£73,219, followed by a notable increase in Quarter 2 to £93,172. This growth 
reflects a consistent year-over-year improvement and suggests heightened 
visitor engagement and café use during peak seasons. The increase in income 
aligns with efforts to enhance the visitor experience, and if trends continue, the 
café is on track to surpass last year’s annual income, supporting park 
operations and maintenance. 
 
 
1.7 EVENTS, ACTIVITIES and PROMOTIONS 

Event Overview and Purpose 

Hinchingbrooke Country Park has been host to a wide variety of events, with a 
total of 23 events that appealed to a range of age groups and interests. These 
events are designed to engage the community, educate participants about the 
natural environment, and promote well-being through outdoor activities. Here are 
some highlighted examples: 

1. Mini Explorers (August): 
a. Purpose: Mini Explorers sessions encourage young children to 

explore the natural world through hands-on activities. Each session 
aims to spark curiosity about nature, with activities tailored to 
enhance sensory learning and physical movement. 

b. Participant Expectations: Families expect interactive, child-
friendly activities that allow children to explore and learn safely. 

c. Outcomes: High attendance in August sessions demonstrated the 
popularity of these events among young families. Positive feedback 

Page 12 of 16



noted an increase in children’s engagement with nature, helping to 
build early connections to environmental stewardship. 
 

2. Bushcraft Orienteering (August 21): 
a. Purpose: This event introduces participants to basic survival and 

navigation skills within a woodland environment. It aims to foster 
teamwork, problem-solving, and a connection to nature. 

b. Participant Expectations: Attendees look forward to learning 
practical skills in a hands-on setting, with guidance on orienteering 
and safe bushcraft practices. 

c. Outcomes: The event was well-attended and highly rated, with 
participants gaining confidence in outdoor skills and reporting a 
greater understanding of how to safely explore natural areas. 
Repeat sign-ups for similar events reflect ongoing interest. 

 
The Wild About Huntingdon Festival, originally scheduled for September 2024, 
was planned as a large community event celebrating local wildlife and 
conservation efforts. It was set to include interactive wildlife activities, educational 
stalls, and eco-friendly crafts, all aimed at raising environmental awareness and 
fostering community involvement in nature. Unfortunately, due to severe flooding 
in September, the event had to be cancelled. It has now been rescheduled for 
2025, ensuring that this valuable community festival will return when conditions 
are safer and more accessible for all. 
 

General Outcomes 

Overall, these events have seen strong engagement, with high attendance 
reflecting community interest in outdoor learning and recreation. Feedback has 
shown that participants appreciate the variety and educational focus of the 
events, reinforcing the park’s role as a community hub for environmental 
education and outdoor enjoyment. 

 
1.8 COUNTRYSIDE CENTRE  
 
The Countryside Centre has experienced variable usage trends over the past 
few years. Bookings and user numbers have not fully rebounded to pre-
pandemic levels, with year-to-date figures for 2024/25 indicating 92 bookings 
and 2,993 users so far. However, revenue from room hire has shown resilience, 
with this year’s revenue to date at £27,280, nearly matching the previous year’s 
total. This suggests an increase in larger bookings and longer rental periods, 
possibly as customers return to in-person meetings and events. 
 
Trends and Patterns in Use 

• Usage Trends: A trend toward smaller group bookings and cautious re-
engagement remains, although figures show signs of gradual recovery. 
Compared to previous years, fewer bookings are yielding relatively 
strong revenue, possibly due to longer duration or larger groups. 

• Significant New Customers: While there have been no significant new 
block bookings this year, some returning customers have booked larger 
sessions, indicating renewed interest from groups and organizations. 

Page 13 of 16



• Patterns in Demand: Usage has been more consistent in midweek 
periods, with increased interest in late afternoons and evenings for 
community and recreational groups. This pattern may reflect a growing 
interest in accessible meeting spaces for community activities after 
regular working hours. 

 
 2018/1

9 
2019/2
0 

2020/2
1 

2021/2
2 

2022/2
3 

2023/2
4 

2024/2
5 YTD 

Bookings 408 412 42 124 199 118 92 
Users 12965 12931 1033 3473 6160 3559 2993 
Room Hire  £27,769 £31,590 £4,572 £14,150 £28,721 £26,500 £27,280 

 
 
 

Page 14 of 16



HINCHINGBROOKE COUNTRY PARK 2023/24 OUTTURN AND 2024/25 BUDGET AND FORECAST 
 

 2023/24 Outturn 2024/25 Forecast 

 Budget Actual Variance Budget Forecast Variance 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Hinchingbrooke Country Park and 
Management       
Staff 112 119 7 116 143 27 
Running Costs 34 50 16 37 35 -2 
Income -15 -38 -23 -13 -13 0 

Total 131 131 0 140 165 25 
       
Countryside Centre       
Staff 29 18 -11 30 26 -4 
Running Costs 31 11 -20 23 31 8 
Income -11 -50 -39 -6 -26 -20 

Total 49 -21 -70 47 31 -16 
       
Café       
Staff 65 114 17 160 141 -19 
Running Costs 90 131 41 123 154 31 
Income -170 -228 -45 -191 -240 -49 

Total -15 17 32 92 55 -37 
 

Events 
Staff 0 0 0 77 39 -38 
Running Costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Income 0 0 0 -15 -26 -11 

Total 0 0 0 62 13 -49 
 
Total Hinchingbrooke Country Park 165 127 -38 341 264 -77 

 

Comments on Variances 

2023/24 

Budgets were realigned for 23/24 and the management unit for Hinchingbrooke Country Park 
outturned without a variance.  

Countryside centre room hire income recovered to outpace pre-covid levels. Income from various 
events run throughout the year. Countryside support worker role was vacant during 23/24 which 
saw a large drop in employee costs. Low running costs. 

There was an increase in the café income which was partially offset by increase in catering supplies 
cost. The new café staffing structure has been put in place which has increased the employee costs 
in 23/24. 

 

Page 15 of 16

Agenda Item 4



2024/25 

The budgets for 24/25 were aligned to the previously revised business case which was signed off at 
the Change board. It wasn’t updated to the most recent business case as this was not approved until 
February/March. 

With the delay in the redevelopment of the country park we are expecting the centre to continue to 
receive income from room hire until the start of works.  

We have revised the forecast for the café upwards since Q1; this will be constantly monitored 
throughout year. 

An Events manager and officer is likely to be in post in the second half of this calendar year. There is 
an expectation that several events will be held at the country park including the Santa Grotto which 
will be income producing. 

Page 16 of 16


	Agenda
	Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and other Registerable and Non-Registerable Interests.
	Filming, Photography and Recording (including Live Streaming) at Council Meetings

	1 MINUTES
	Minutes

	3 SENIOR RANGER'S REPORT
	Head rangers report
	1.1	STAFFING


	4 FINANCE REPORT

